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The original building of the First Presbyterian Church in Macon, 
completed in 1858, was built during the Romanesque revival that occurred 
in American architecture during the 1840-60's. The exterior details are 
largely Romanesque and the mass of the building is symmetrical. In plan 
the building is wide in proportion to the length, resembling some of Wren's 
London churches. Forgetting the details, the observer can find some 
resemblance in the general shape of the tower with that of St. Martin-in-the 
Fields, designed by James Gibbs. The interior was altered considerably in 
1893. A Sunday School building, parallel to the original building, was 
added in 1926. In 1963 a large, attached addition was made to the rear of 
the original building.

The tower dominates the exterior of the building. In the base of the 
tower is the large, semicircular headed main, entrance, whose threshold is 
approximately eight feet above grade, and reached by wide granite steps. :^ 
This height above grade was evidently determined by the need for a ground 
floor to house Sunday School rooms. Full light for the ground floor windows 
was provided by a full length brick paved and brick walled area-way on the 
west side. Such an area-way was not necessary on the east side, where natural 
grade was lower. All windows serving the main floor have semicircular heads 
and so have the ornamental, shallow niches that are placed in the front wall 
one on each side Of the t«wer. Above each niche is a projecting mold which 
is semicircular and which stops about six inches below the spring-line of 
the curve. Above the main entrance is a wheel, or spoke, window which admits 
light only ;to the tower. As set-backs occur in the tower the plan becomes 
octagonal, with four wide and four narrow sides. In each wide face of the 
octagon is a tall circular headed opening with frames similar to the main 
floor windows, but these frames contain louvres for ventilation. Above each 
louvred opening is a circular opening, now having reinforced sheet metal 
fillers. Earlier photographs show that these were once handsome wheel 
windows. Above the circular openings the octagonal masonry tower is crowned 
by a highly ornamental brick and stucco cornice, which forms a base for the 
copper shingled spire. Finally, the spire terminates in a fourteen foot 
high copper finial, whose apex is one hundred, eighty-three feet above the 
ground.

It is the ornament and openings in exterior surfaces that show most 
clearly Romanesque inspiration. Down the sides 6<£ the Sanctuary there are 
no typical buttresses to reinforce the wall supporting the interior trusses, 
but the walls are thicker under the trasses and panels. At the top of each 
panel are two rows &f brick corbels covered with stucco. The outstanding, 
feature of these walls is the octagonal ̂ u;t1:ress^
of the building. If the reader will think of each buttress as being divided 

"TTnT;6~~four quarters, the inside quarter is filled with walls <Sfi the buiMing 
leaving five full sides and two narrow sides of the octagon exposed to view. 
The buttresses extend above the horizontal cornices and are high enough to 
receive the rake cornices at a point just below the octagonal metal roof of 
each buttress. Over the entire building the brick walls have been stuccoed, 
then a design to look like stones laid in a coursed ashlar pattern has been 
created by tuck pointing. Time has eroded much of this but earlier photographs
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7. Description First Presbyterian Church, Macon, Georgia 

show clearly the pattern created by this applied pointing.

The main entrance leads to the narthex, the center of which is directly 
below the center of the tower. The plaster ceiling is shaped like intersecting 
groined vaults. The vault from front to rear is a true semicircle, but the ono 
from left to right is narrower and takes on a slightly lancet shape so that tho 
apex lines with the apex of the front to rear vault. The true masonry vaults, 
which connect the massive brick piers at each corner of the tower, occur much 
higher and appear to be in line with the masonry semicircle over the front 
entrance. At both ends of the narthex are twisting, steep steps leading to tho 
baleony. These are heavy in detail but definitely the work of master carpenters

Upon entering the Sanctuary ©he finds a considerabie width in proportion 
to length, 57 by 75 feet long at the main floor and 87 feet from front to back 
balcony wall on either side of the tower. The roof is supported by four massi 
wooden scissors trusses, with false trusses at front and~~rear walls. The plan* 
of the roof framing is divided into panels, using heavy ribs which match the 
design of the upper chord of the trusses. All of the roof framing is not exposed. 
Beginning at the side walls, and just below the spring-line of the trusses, a 
false coved ceiling extends out about six feet below the plane of the roof 
fraaing. This vertical space between the coved ceiling and the plane of the 
roof is ornamented with semicircular arches resting on attached, rounded two- 
thirds columns. The colored glass windows, in the plane of the roof framing, 
and triangular dormers were added during alterations in 1893.

The five windows in each side wall have semicircular heads. Each opening 
is divided into two windows by a heavy wood mullion, each of the two windows 
having semicircular heads with the same spring-iine as the larger circle. To 
use the space above there is a full circular glazed opening on each side of 
the circle. These shaped openings in the head of the window provide more glass; 
area and give the window a "lighter" appearance.

The choir loft at the chancel end of the Sanctuary was added in 1926. 
The original design had the pulpit in front of an apse-like bay which now 
houses the organ pipes. This masonry apse was one-half of an octagon. Time 
and stricter fire safety code have added two additional exit doors, one on each 
side of the choir loft. (To the present day builder (1971) it is almost 
unbelievable that this building was erected for a reported cost of $30,000.)

GP 0 921-724
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Local history

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Presbyterians were one of four denominations that were chartered 
three years after Macon was laid out in 1823; the present First Presbyterian 
Church is the third building erected by Macon Presbyterians. Today, First 
Presbyterian is one of Macon's affluent and well-attended churches. It has 
long been a major historical, architectural landmark.

In design, First Presbyterian, is a symetrical Romanesque revival 
structure, with broad, smooth wall surfaces decorated and pierced by 
round arched ornament and openings. The corner octagonal buttresses, the 
dominating tower and the massive wooden truss supports give the appearance 
of substantial dignity and strength. The First Presbyterian Church in 
Augusta, by Robert Mills is similar to the Macon church, both of which 
reflect Presbyterianism in design.

The church is located across from Macon's Grand Opera House (which is 
on the National Register) in an area which has almost completely changed 
character in that is was originally a very high quality neighborhood 
adjacent to downtown Macon. The church and the opera house are two 
anchors in this changing environment.

The church, completed in 1858, is a particularly romantic addition 
to the downtown Macon scene; its towering Romanesque revivalism enriches 
the fabric of historical Macon.

According to John J. McKay, Jr., President, Middle Georgia Historical 
Society, a list of prominent citizens who were early members of this church 
would include: the Reverend Francis Goulding,(author of The Young Marooneas
Judge Clifford finderson, member of the Confederate Congress, State Attorney 
General; Sidney Lanier, nationally known poet and musician; John C. Butler, 
local historian; and Harry Stillwell Edwards, author of Eneas Afri-canus.
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